IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY JOSEPH CUCCIA

APPELLANT

VS.

Case #2010-CA-00083

JULIE ANNE CUCCIA

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT, ANTHONY JOSEPH CUCCIA

Respectfully Submitted,

Rachael Emily Putnam TN#

Kay Farese Turner MS

Attorney for Appellant 2148 Monroe Ave Memphis, TN 38104

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY JOSEPH CUCCIA

APPELLANT

VS.

Case #2010-CA-00083

JULIE ANNE CUCCIA

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in awarding sole legal and physical custody of the two minor children to Ms. Cuccia.
- B. Whether or not the Chancellor erred in granting Mr. Cuccia visitation based on the standard Farese schedule.
- C. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in classifying Mr. Cuccia's FedEx company performance bonus as marital property.
- D. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in classifying Ms. Cuccia's residence as her separate property.
- E. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in valuing the acreage owned jointly by Mr. and Ms. Cuccia with Mr. Cuccia's mother and Mr. Cuccia.
- F. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in failing to consider the marital debt of the parties and equitably divide such debt between the parties.
- G. Whether or not the Chancellor manifestly erred in awarding Ms. Cuccia rehabilitative alimony in the amount of \$2,000.00 per month for forty-eight months.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Throughout this brief, references to the Record Excerpts will be indicated as (RE. __) and references to the record itself will be indicated as (V. __ p. __). Exhibits will be indicated as (Ex. No. __). Appellant shall be referred to as "Mr. Cuccia" and Appellee shall be referred to as "Ms. Cuccia."

Procedural History

This Appeal arises from an original divorce action commenced by Mr. Cuccia on January 31, 2008 with the filing of his Complaint for Divorce in the Desoto County Chancery Court of Mississippi following the parties' separation on December 26, 2007. (V. 1 p. 8, RE.4) Mr. Cuccia's original complaint alleged that irreconcilable differences has arisen between the parties to such an extent that the marriage could not be saved. (V.1 p. 9, RE.4) The case was originally assigned to Chancellor Mitchell M. Lundy, Jr. (V. 1 p. 1, RE.4) The parties to the divorce had two minor children born of the union, namely, Alicia Marie Cuccia, born July 20, 1998, presently age 11, and Joseph Anthony Cuccia, born May 28, 2002, presently age 8. (V. 1 p. 9, RE.4) Mr. Cuccia initially sought joint legal and physical custody. (V. 1 p. 9, RE.4)

Following the filing of the original Complaint for Divorce, Mr. Cuccia filed an Amended Complaint for Divorce on March 12, 2008, wherein he alleged he was entitled to a divorce from Ms. Cuccia on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhumane treatment on the part of Ms. Cuccia. (V. 1, p. 12) Mr. Cuccia also filed a Motion for Temporary Relief and an Application and a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order on March 12, 2008, wherein he sought physical custody of the minor children due to the hazardous conditions which existed in Ms. Cuccia home. (V. 1 p. 16 through 22) Specifically, Mr. Cuccia alleged that Ms. Cuccia was housing

multiple dogs, including Rottweilers and Pit Bulls, at the marital residence where the children were residing. (V. 1, p. 16, RE.3)

Incident to the filing of the Motion for Temporary Restraining Order, Chancellor Lundy entered a Temporary Restraining Order and granted Mr. Cuccia custody of the two minor children pending a hearing which was set for March 21, 2008. (V. 1 p. 23, RE.3) Ms. Cuccia filed an Answer and Counter-Complaint for Divorce and Other Relief on March 17, 2008, wherein she denied that she was guilty of cruel and inhumane treatment of Mr. Cuccia, but admitted that irreconcilable differences existed between the parties. (V. 1, p. 33) Ms. Cuccia sought sole physical and legal custody of the two minor children, child support and temporary and permanent alimony. (V. 1, p. 33-37)

On March 25, 2008, Chancellor Lundy conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Motion for Temporary Relief and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order filed by Mr. Cuccia. Ms. Cuccia testified at the hearing that she was housing a total of **thirty-six** (36) dogs at the marital residence. (V. 1, p. 46, RE.3) (V. 2, p. 190)

On May 6, 2008, Chancellor Lundy entered a Temporary Order *nunc pro tunc* to the date of the hearing on March 25, 2008. (V. 1, p. 46, RE.3) Pursuant to the Temporary Order, Mr. and Ms. Cuccia were granted joint legal and physical custody of the two minor children, with Mr. Cuccia having three weekends per month from Friday to Sunday, as well as Wednesday evening every week. (V. 1, p. 46, RE.3) The Court granted Ms. Cuccia temporary exclusive use of the marital residence and ordered Mr. Cuccia to pay the mortgage, property insurance, property taxes and utilities on the same. (V. 1, p. 47, RE.3) Additionally, Mr. Cuccia was ordered to pay Ms. Cuccia \$500.00 per month in cash support; to provide one tank of gas per week for Ms. Cuccia;

to continue paying for car insurance on Ms. Cuccia's vehicle; and to maintain the health insurance for Ms. Cuccia and the children.

As it related to the condition of the home and the thirty-six (36) dogs living in the home, the Court specifically enjoined Ms. Cuccia from allowing any more than three (3) dogs, with each dog weighing no more than thirty (30) pounds, to run loose or occupy that portion of the marital residence utilized by the family, or more particularly, the parties' minor children. (V. 1, p. 47) Chancellor Lundy further Ordered the Department of Human Services to conduct a home study of the marital residence. (V. 1, p. 47, RE.3)

On June 6, 2008, Ms. Cuccia's counsel, Leigh A. Rutherford, filed a Motion to Withdraw and Substitute Counsel due to Ms. Cuccia retaining Malenda Meacham to represent her in the divorce proceedings. (V. 1, p. 59) As a result of Ms. Cuccia retaining Malenda Meacham to represent her, Chancellor Lundy recused himself and the case was assigned to Chancellor Percy Lynchard. (V. 1, p. 60, RE.3)

On July 11, 2008, Ms. Cuccia filed a Petition for Additional Temporary Relief. (V. 1, p. 63) In the Petition for Additional Relief, Ms. Cuccia alleged that she was in need of a modification of the Temporary Order entered by the Court on May 9, 2008 *nunc pro tunc* to March 25, 2008. Specifically, Ms. Cuccia sought a modification of the temporary support due to the marital residence being sold; a reduction of Mr. Cuccia's visitation to two weekends per month; removal of the restrictions contained in the prior order relative to the number and weight of the dogs allowed in the marital residence; an order requiring Mr. Cuccia to pay for all uncovered medical expenses; an Order requiring Mr. Cuccia to pay all bonus income received by him into a trust account pending further Orders of the Court; and an Order requiring him to pay

into a trust account any money received by him incident to a personal injury lawsuit which was pending at the time. (V. 1, p. 63) The Petition was set for hearing on July 23, 2008. (V.1, p. 69)

Without Mr. Cuccia's knowledge or consent, an Agreed Order was entered on July 23, 2008. (V. 1, p. 75, RE.3) The Agreed Order continued the hearing on the Petition for Additional Relief and granted Ms. Cuccia's request that all bonus monies received by Mr. Cuccia be placed in a trust account in the name of his counsel at that time, namely, George McFall. (V.1, p. 75, RE.3) The Trial Court further ordered that Ms. Cuccia receive the remaining \$1,000.00 from the sale of the tractor and directed Mr. Cuccia's counsel to issue a check to Ms. Cuccia in the amount of \$2,000.00 from Mr. Cuccia's bonus monies to assist Ms. Cuccia with her moving expenses. (V.1, p. 75-76) A Re-Notice of Hearing was filed on August 11, 2008 setting the Petition for Additional Relief for hearing on August 20, 2008. (V.1, p.77)

On August 27, 2008, an Order of Continuance was entered reflecting that on August 20, 2008, neither Mr. Cuccia nor his counsel appeared for the hearing on the Petition for Additional Relief and on the Court's own Motion said hearing was continued until August 27, 2008. (V. 1, p. 80) The Court awarded Ms. Meachum the sum of \$832.50 in attorneys' fees, which the Court ordered Mr. Cuccia to pay immediately. (V. 1, p. 80-82, RE.3) On August 27, 2008, the Court awarded Ms. Cuccia \$3,750.00 per month in Temporary Support. (V. 1, p. 80-82, RE.3) On October 3, 2008, Ms. Cuccia filed a Petition for Contempt against Mr. Cuccia for failing to deposit his bonus into his attorney's trust account. The Petition for Contempt was set for hearing on November 19, 2008.

On November 19, 2008, the Court found Mr. Cuccia in contempt of Court for failing to place his bonus funds in the trust account of his attorney pursuant to the Agreed Order of July

23, 2008. The Court gave Mr. Cuccia thirty (30) days to deposit the sum of \$43,367.26 into his attorney's trust account and awarded Ms. Cuccia the sum of \$1,500.00 in attorneys' fees.

On November 20, 2008, Mr. Cuccia filed a Motion for Contempt against Ms. Cuccia for her failure to share information with Mr. Cuccia regarding the minor children's education, extracurricular activities, medical care and general welfare. Mr. Cuccia further alleged that Ms. Cuccia was making unilateral decisions regarding the minor children without Mr. Cuccia's knowledge, input, or consent. Specifically, Ms. Cuccia began taking Alicia to see a psychologist without Mr. Cuccia's knowledge. The Motion for Contempt filed by Mr. Cuccia was set for hearing on December 17, 2008.

On December 17, 2008, Mr. Cuccia's counsel, George McFall, filed a Motion to Withdraw as counsel and a Motion to Interplead the Funds he was holding in trust for Mr. Cuccia. (V. 1, p. 101-104) On December 17, 2008, the Court entered an Order Allowing Withdrawal of Mr. Cuccia's counsel, an Order Granting Motion to Interplead Funds, and an Order of Contempt incident to the November 19, 2008 hearing. (V. 1, p. 105-107, RE.3)

On December 31, 2008, a Notice of Appearance of Counsel was filed by Ms. Kay Farese Turner on behalf of Mr. Cuccia. On February 5, 2009, Mr. Cuccia filed an Amended Petition for Contempt, for Modification of Order on Temporary Custody and Motion for Appointment of Guardian ad Litem. Mr. Cuccia alleged in his Amended Petition that Ms. Cuccia was violating the prior Orders of the Court prohibiting her from having more than three (3) dogs under thirty (30) pounds in the house with the minor children, by and through her housing numerous Rottweilers and Pittbulls. Additionally, Mr. Cuccia alleged that the youngest child, Joey Cuccia, was failing first grade due to Ms. Cuccia's failure to provide Joey the appropriate and necessary assistance and supervision with his homework, and further due to Ms. Cuccia repeatedly

dropping Joey off at school late causing him to be tardy. (V. 2, p. 231) On February 5, 2009, Mr. Cuccia also filed a Motion to Modify Temporary Support and for Disbursement of Funds on Deposit with Desoto County Chancery Clerk's Office, wherein he alleged that he was in immediate need of a modification of his Temporary Support Obligation due to his reduction in compensation at FedEx, as well as his having to service multiple loans which he was caused to incur in order to fulfill the Court's Order directing him to deposit his bonus earnings with the Clerk's office. (V. 2, p.261) Both the Petition for Modification of Custody and Motion for Modification of Temporary Support were set for hearing on February 25, 2009. On February 25, 2009, the Court entered an Order continuing the hearing until March 18, 2009. On March 18, 2009, the Court decided in lieu of a temporary hearing the matter would be set for Trial on April 15, 2009. (V. 2, p. 289, RE.3)

On April 15, 2009, the parties appeared before the Court, stipulated to a divorce, and submitted all other issues to the Court for determination. In the middle of Mr. Cuccia's testimony, the Court recessed the proceedings and requested to meet with counsel in chambers. When the Court returned to the bench, the Court recessed the proceedings due to the home study report from DCS never having been received by the Court and further due to the appraisal obtained by Wife of the acreage being erroneous. (V. 3, p. 341, RE.3) The Court ensured the parties an expedited resetting of the trial, however, repeated continuances were granted to Ms. Cuccia's counsel, and not until Mr. Cuccia filed a Motion for Trial Setting did the Court reset the trial for August 11, 2009. (V. 3, p.350, RE.3)

At the conclusion of the Trial, the Court ordered counsel for both parties to prepare proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and to submit the same to the Court, but not to counsel opposite. On September 21, 2009, the Court issued the Opinion of the Court. (V. 3, p.

370, RE.4) The Decree of Divorce was entered on October 19, 2009. Pursuant to the Decree of Divorce, Ms. Cuccia was awarded sole physical and legal custody of the two minor children and Mr. Cuccia's visitation was drastically reduced to the Standard Farese Schedule, despite his having three weekends per month and one night during the school week for over a year. (Vol.3 p.371, RE.2) The Court found that Mr. Cuccia had an income of \$129,000 per year and a net monthly income of \$7,268.75. Based on said income, the Court awarded Ms. Cuccia forty-eight (48) months of rehabilitative alimony at the rate of \$2,000.00 per month for the purpose of allowing Ms. Cuccia to finish any education requirements she may have. The Court further ordered Mr. Cuccia to pay the sum of \$1,453.00 per month in child support. (Vol.3, p. 371 and 377, RE.2)

The Court found that the total marital estate was worth \$92,204.00. (RE.2, 4) The estate value was made up of the borrowed funds on deposit with the clerk's office in the amount of \$43,367.26; 100% of the net equity of the 100 acres owned by Mr. and Ms. Cuccia and Mr. Cuccia's parents; the parties' camper; and Mr. Cuccia's retirement account. (V. 3, p. 370-389, RE.4) The Court did not include the equity contained in Ms. Cuccia's residence, despite Ms. Cuccia having paid the mortgage on her residence from the temporary support paid to her by Mr. Cuccia. The Final Decree of Divorce is devoid of any provision regarding the marital debt and how such debt was to be divided.

Mr. Cuccia filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on October 29, 2009. (V.3, p. 390) The Court denied Mr. Cuccia a hearing on the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and on March 9, 2010, entered an Order summarily denying all relief sought therein. (V. 4, p. 645, RE.3)

Statement of Relevant Facts

Custody: The record reflects that Mr. Cuccia left the marital residence in December of 2007 due to his coming home from work and finding that Ms. Cuccia unilaterally decided to adopt four (4) additional large breed dogs bringing the total number of dogs living in the house to twelve. (V. 1, p. 126) Additionally, Mr. Cuccia testified that as a result of Ms. Cuccia allowing so many dogs to live in the home, the sanitary conditions of the home began to deteriorate as a result of the dog hair, vomit, and feces which accompanied that many dogs living in the home. (V. 3, p. 127, line 8-15) Mr. Cuccia explained that Ms. Cuccia began a business of training dogs which led to the establishment of Good Dog University. (V. 1, p. 127-129, beginning line 18) Ms. Cuccia also began a rescue operation for beagles called, Mostly Beagles, which provided a temporary home for beagles that were facing euthanization. (V.1, p.129. line 6) Mr. Cuccia explained that these two operations quickly evolved into something much different than what had been initially contemplated. Specifically, Mr. Cuccia testified that Ms. Cuccia began rescuing not only beagles, but many large breed dogs that had been abused, specifically, Rottweilers and Pitt Bulls. (V. 1. p. 129) Mr. Cuccia testified that as the dogs grew in number and in size, he voiced his objections to Ms. Cuccia but she paid no attention. (V. 1, p. 26) Mr. Cuccia also began having safety concerns for the two minor children due to the breed of the dogs which Ms. Cuccia was rescuing, being Rottweilers and mixed breed Pitt Bulls. Mr. Cuccia testified that one of the male Rottweilers housed at the marital residence had been adopted out to a family who returned him to Ms. Cuccia two weeks later after he attacked a vet tech. (V. 1, p. 132) Upon being returned to the marital residence, the Rottweiler killed another dog at the marital residence and was eventually put down. (V. 1, p. 133) Mr. Cuccia further testified that the two male Rottweilers had gotten into a fight inside the marital residence and

but for both dogs being on leashes there would have been no way to stop the fight. (V. 1, p. 134)

Mr. Cuccia testified that he filed the Motion for Temporary Relief and Motion for Temporary Restraining Order in March 2008, due to his noticing a drastic increase in the number of large breed dogs at the marital residence. (V. 1, p. 135-136) At the hearing in March of 2008, Ms. Cuccia acknowledged that she was housing thirty-six (36) dogs at the marital residence (V. 2, p. 190) Ms. Cuccia further acknowledged that she had increased the number of dogs at the marital residence after Mr. Cuccia moved out of the marital residence, due to her having the ability to use the game room to house additional dogs. (V. 2, p. 208)

As a result of Ms. Cuccia caring for thirty-six (36) dogs by herself, the minor children's educational and medical needs were neglected. Specifically, Ms, Cuccia repeatedly demonstrated an inability to manage the most basic health care needs of the children throughout the parties' marriage and during the pendency of the divorce proceedings. Mr. Cuccia would refer to the children's medical records wherein it is reflected that the children had not been taken to the pediatrician for an annual well-child check up in over four (4) years. (Trial Ex. 4) Mr. Cuccia took the children to their annual well-child check up in March 2008 and January 2009 (Trial Exhibit 4, V. 6, p. 51)

It is also reflected in the children's medical records that Ms. Cuccia failed to take Alicia for a follow-up appointment as directed by Alicia's allergist or Pediatrician following their prescribing Alicia Singulair for her asthma. (Trial Exhibit 3, V. 6, p. 51-53, V. 4, p. 493-496) Rather, Ms. Cuccia simply chose to stop giving Alicia her prescription asthma medication when the prescription ran out. Ms. Cuccia failed to consult with Mr. Cuccia regarding any of the above medical decisions, which she unilaterally made despite Mr. Cuccia's having joint legal custody. Ms. Cuccia's failure to provide proper medical care to the children is also reflected in

Dr. Utley's medical records pertaining to Joseph Cuccia. (Trial Exhibit 3, V. 4, p. 490-49) Specifically, Ms. Cuccia unilaterally caused an orthodontic appliance to be placed in the child's mouth to stop his thumb sucking on June 4, 2008. (Trial Ex. 3, V. 6, p. 49-50) The record reflects that Ms. Cuccia did not return to Dr. Utley until October 29, 2008 despite being instructed to bring Joey back six weeks after the appliance was installed. (Id.) Ms. Cuccia again failed to return Joseph on November 17, 2008 for a follow up appointment, and the records reflected the doctors could not reach Ms. Cuccia on the telephone and called Mr. Cuccia to inquire as to how they could reach Ms. Cuccia (See Exhibit "3" p. 50-51). When Mr. Cuccia discovered in January that Ms. Cuccia had not taken Joseph to have his dental appliance inspected every four to six weeks, as required, and when he further observed the embarrassment and humiliation that the child was suffering as a result of the odor and speech impediment caused by the appliance, he immediately took the child to the doctor to have it removed. (Id.) Mr. Cuccia testified at trial that he believed Joseph's thumb sucking was attributable to the lack of affection and nurturing he receives from Ms. Cuccia. (V. 6, p. 50)

Ms. Cuccia further demonstrated disregard of the Court's Order granting joint legal and physical custody of the children and her inability to co-parent with Mr. Cuccia when she took the parties' daughter to see a psychologist without the knowledge or consent of Mr. Cuccia. (V. 4, p. 484, V. 6, p.48) Ms. Cuccia testified in her deposition and at trial that she did not feel it was necessary to advise Mr. Cuccia of her decision to take their child to a counselor until after she and the child decided whether or not they would continue in therapy. (Id.)

Mr. Cuccia testified at trial that Ms. Cuccia failed to advise him of important dates on which the children's activities were occurring. Specifically, in addition to Ms. Cuccia not advising Mr. Cuccia that she wanted to take the parties' daughter to a counselor, Ms. Cuccia

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