IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY JOSEPH CUCCIA

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00083

JULIE ANNE CUCCIA

APPELLEE

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE
JULIE ANNE CUCCIA**

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT
OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Charles E. Winfield, MB [REDACTED]
Joy Wolfe Graves, MB [REDACTED]
PERRY, WINFIELD & WOLFE, P.A.
224 East Main Street
Post Office Box 80281
Starkville, Mississippi 39759
Telephone: (662) 323-3984
Telecopier: (662) 323-3920

Malenda Harris Meacham, MB [REDACTED]
LAW OFFICES OF MEACHAM AND JACKSON
Post Office Box 566
Hernando, Mississippi 38632-0566
Telephone: (662) 429-9339
Telecopier: (662) 429-3239

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

Mr. Cuccia also argues that he is more attuned to his pre-pubescent daughter’s needs than Ms. Cuccia. He bases this solely on his claim that he obtained her first bra for her. (B. 29). Such a claim simply does not support a reversal of the Chancellor’s well-reasoned finding that the minor child is about to enter “a period of time in which a female child by necessity may feel more comfortable with her mother.” (R. 372; AJCRE Tab 4). In fact, Mr. Cuccia’s claim regarding the purchase of the bras for the minor children supports the Chancellor’s findings in that he acknowledges that his aunt assisted him in obtaining the bras; thereby implicitly recognizing the need for female interaction and direction for the minor child at this time. (T. 47; B. 29). Moreover, Mr. Cuccia acknowledges that Ms. Cuccia is closely bonded with her daughter. (B. 36). Therefore, Mr. Cuccia has failed to demonstrate that the Chancellor’s finding that “[t]he sex of the female child would favor the natural mother” was clearly erroneous. (R. 372; AJCRE Tab 4). As a result, the Chancellor’s finding that this factor favored neither party should not be disturbed.¹

b. Continuity of Care for the Minor Children

The Chancellor found that “the primary custodial parent throughout this marriage and prior to the separation of the parties was the natural mother.” (R. 372; AJCRE Tab 4). Mr. Cuccia does not dispute this finding; instead, he states “prior to the parties’ separation, . . . Mr. Cuccia worked and relied on Ms. Cuccia to be primarily responsible for the daily needs of the children.” (B. 30; T. 106-07). On appeal, Mr. Cuccia relies upon *Jerome v. Stroud*, 689 So.2d 755 (Miss. 1997) to argue that the Chancellor erred in not considering the continuity of care

¹ The Chancellor determined that the minor son would favor Mr. Cuccia. Ms. Cuccia, although disputing Mr. Cuccia’s allegations that she is “detached, unaffectionate and distant” from her son, (B. 29; T. 94-95), does not believe that she has grounds for a reversal of the Chancellor’s finding on this issue.

following the parties' separation. (B. 29-30). His reliance is misplaced, as the Chancellor specifically noted that *Jerome* allowed consideration of "all periods of care for the children, including those post-separation" and concluded that although Mr. Cuccia made contributions to the care of the children, it was primarily Ms. Cuccia who provided care, even post-separation. (R. 373; AJCRE Tab 4). The Chancellor's finding that this factor favors Ms. Cuccia is well-supported. Prior to the separation there is no dispute that Ms. Cuccia was the primary caregiver and post-separation – when Mr. Cuccia left the marital home – she provided primary for the two children for a period of almost three months prior to entry of the temporary restraining order. (R. 23). Following dissolution of the TRO, the children were returned to the joint custody of the parties, and Ms. Cuccia was restored as the primary caregiver, except for three weekends per month and one weekday afternoon per week. (R. 46; AJCRE Tab 3b). The Chancellor's ruling was, therefore, not clearly erroneous.²

c. Best Parenting Skills

The Chancellor found that both parents possessed "admirable and proper" parenting skills but concluded that, because Ms. Cuccia had been the primary caregiver during both the marriage and during the separation, this factor favored Ms. Cuccia. (R. 373; AJCRE Tab 4). On appeal, Mr. Cuccia relies solely on his opinion regarding the presence of multiple dogs owned and/or boarded by Ms. Cuccia in and around the marital home. (B. 31-33). Mr. Cuccia makes a number of unsupported allegations regarding the condition of the home and the impact of the animals on the children. However, merely because Mr. Cuccia does not approve of the presence

² Mr. Cuccia appears to take issue with the Court's finding that Ms. Cuccia provided primary care for the children for a period of three months following the parties' separation. In fact, Mr. Cuccia left the marital home on December 26, 2007 (T. 20-21) and did not obtain the temporary order until March 12, 2008 (R. 23). Although not quite three calendar months, certainly Mr. Cuccia insistence that it was only 76 days (and not three months) (B. 19) is of no import, as the Chancellor's finding that Ms. Cuccia provided primary care for the majority of the post-separation period is equally applicable to either period of time.

of the animals, does not mean that Ms. Cuccia's parenting skills are inadequate. Additionally, there had been numerous pets and boarded and rescued animals in the home during the marriage. (T. 20, 99, 110, 112; R. 126, 128). Furthermore, in spite of Mr. Cuccia's alleged concerns regarding the condition of the home and the presence of the animals, he delayed seeking custody of the minor children for almost three months after he left the marital home. (R. 21). And, after being awarded custody of the children, he entered an Agreed Order consenting to the return of the children to Ms. Cuccia's care pending a hearing on his Motion. (R. 45). Additionally, no testimony by any objective third party or other corroborative evidence regarding Mr. Cuccia's allegations concerning the condition of the home or the impact of the animals on the children was presented at trial.³ In fact, the Chancellor ordered, and subsequently relied upon, a home study performed by the Department of Human Services that found no problematic conditions in Ms. Cuccia's home. (R. 375-76). Finally, although Mr. Cuccia now demonizes Ms. Cuccia's passion for dogs, he acknowledges that, during the marriage, she was engaged in boarding and training dogs and that the family had numerous pets and that he allowed her to be the primary caregiver during that time. (T. 20, 99, 106, 110, 112; R. 126, 128). Certainly, he would not have left one "lack[ing] the most basic and common sense principles of parenting," (B. 31), to care for his children. The Chancellor's findings on this factor are not clearly erroneous and should be upheld.

d. Willingness to Provide Primary Childcare

The Chancellor found that Ms. Cuccia had not only stated a willingness to provide primary childcare but had actually provided such primary care to the children, including during

³ Mr. Cuccia states in his brief that "he believed that Joseph's poor performance in first grade was caused by the chaotic, unstructured environment of Ms. Cuccia's home and her failure to give the child the one-on-one attention and assistance he needed with his homework." (B. 32; T. 41-43). Mr. Cuccia, however, offers no support for his "belief" and no basis for his conclusion or qualifications to make such a determination. He also offered no expert testimony regarding the underlying causes of any academic problems encountered by his minor son.

the period after Mr. Cuccia left the marital home. (R. 374; AJCRE Tab 4). Mr. Cuccia, on the other hand, left the children in the marital home and made no effort to provide primary care until almost three months later. (T. 110-12). Furthermore, as noted by the Chancellor, Mr. Cuccia petitioned the Court for joint legal and physical custody in both his Complaint for Divorce and Amended Complaint for Divorce. (R. 8-15). Additionally, contrary to Mr. Cuccia's assertions on appeal, he did enter into an Agreed Order allowing Ms. Cuccia to share custody of the children with him during the pendency of the Temporary Restraining Order. (R. 45). These requests and agreements do not suggest that Mr. Cuccia is prepared to provide primary childcare. The Chancellor's finding that this factor favored Ms. Cuccia is not clearly erroneous and therefore should be upheld.

e. Responsibilities of Employment

The Chancellor found that this factor favored neither party as “[b]oth parties are fortunate in that their respective employment allows the liberty to be with the children should emergencies arise.” (R. 374; AJCRE Tab 4); *see Gilliland v. Gilliland*, 969 So.2d 56, 68 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). On appeal, Mr. Cuccia argues that Ms. Cuccia has insufficient time to care for the minor children because of the demands of her employment. (B. 33-35). However, as the Chancellor concluded, and as shown by the evidence in this matter discussed above, Ms. Cuccia has served as the primary caregiver throughout the minor children's lives. Mr. Cuccia points to no evidence to support his argument that suddenly Ms. Cuccia is unable to continue to provide care for the children and maintain her business.⁴ Furthermore, although Mr. Cuccia contends that his job allows him the flexibility to attend the children's extra-curricular activities, his testimony reveals that the flexibility might not be so great, as he acknowledged being unable to attend soccer

⁴ Although Mr. Cuccia suggests that Ms. Cuccia does not have time to attend to the needs of the children, the uncontroverted testimony at trial was that her duties related to the animals at the home took only a few hours in the morning and evening. (R. 193).

practices (for a team that he coached) and volleyball games because of work commitments. (T. 159, 171). Accordingly, the Chancellor's finding on this factor should not be disturbed on appeal.

f. Physical and Mental Health of the Parties

The Chancellor found that this factor favored neither party. Mr. Cuccia concedes that the Chancellor was correct in this finding.⁵ Therefore, there is no basis for reversal of the Chancellor's finding on this factor.

g. Physical and Mental Health of the Children

The Chancellor found that this factor favored neither party. As noted above, the Court found that the evidence did not support a finding that either minor child suffered from any condition that would warrant special care for which Mr. Cuccia or Ms. Cuccia would be better suited to provide. There is no evidence in the record to rebut the Chancellor's finding and, therefore, this finding should be affirmed on appeal.

h. Stability of Employment

The Chancellor found that neither party was in jeopardy of being displaced from their employment and that this factor favored neither party. Mr. Cuccia argues that because Ms. Cuccia indicated that she was considering options related to new or additional employment that this factor should have favored him. (B. 20-21). However, considering possible alternative employment does not suggest that Ms. Cuccia's current employment status is less stable or in jeopardy. The Chancellor heard all of Ms. Cuccia's testimony regarding her employment, both current and potential, and determined that she was in a stable situation at the time of trial. Such a finding was not clearly erroneous and should be affirmed.

⁵ Ms. Cuccia denies Mr. Cuccia's suggestion that she has a mental health issue, and there is nothing in the record to suggest that there is any basis for such an inference. (B. 35-36).

i. Emotional Ties of Parent and Child

The Chancellor found that the evidence suggested that “both parties dearly love the children and are loved in return by the children” and that this factor favored neither party. (R. 375; AJCRE Tab 4). Mr. Cuccia argues on appeal, and without any supporting citations to the record or evidence, that Ms. Cuccia is not bonded to her minor son but that he is closely bonded with both children. (B. 36). The only testimony regarding Ms. Cuccia’s lack of bonding with her minor son came from Mr. Cuccia or his family. The Chancellor, having had the opportunity to hear testimony from all witnesses and observe the parties, found that although Ms. Cuccia was more bonded with her daughter and Mr. Cuccia was more bonded with his son, there was not an absence of bonding between the children and either parent. This finding should not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of evidence that his finding was clearly erroneous. Mr. Cuccia has failed to make that showing.

j. Moral Fitness of the Parents

The Chancellor found that “neither party has exhibited any immorality which would give the Court cause for concern with reference to the children” and concluded that this factor favored neither party. (R. 375; AJCRE Tab 4). On appeal, Mr. Cuccia argues that Ms. Cuccia should be deemed morally unfit by the Court because of certain misstatements she is alleged to have made on various documents following the parties’ separation. (B. 36-37). However, the alleged misstatements, even if assumed to have been intentionally made by Ms. Cuccia, are not significant to the question of whether Ms. Cuccia is a morally fit parent to her children under this *Albright* factor. The Chancellor’s findings on this issue are not clearly erroneous and should be upheld.

k. Home, School and Community Record of the Children

The Chancellor found that both Mr. Cuccia and Ms. Cuccia had been involved in the minor children's activities and that both parties have family members who are willing to assist in rearing the children. As a result, the Chancellor found that this factor favored neither party. (R. 375; AJCRE Tab 4). Mr. Cuccia appears to argue that this factor should have been decided in his favor because the minor son allegedly had some academic difficulties during first grade. (B. 37). Interestingly, Mr. Cuccia offers no citation to the record in support of this conclusion. Indeed, he cannot do so because there is nothing in the record to support the conclusion that the minor child's academic performance was in any way affected by the actions of Ms. Cuccia. Mr. Cuccia merely elects to blame the minor child's academic struggles on Ms. Cuccia but fails to consider the potential impact his own actions had on the child (i.e., leaving the family home). Mr. Cuccia also contends that he should prevail with respect to this factor because he served as his daughter's sponsor in connection with her First Communion⁶ and because he coaches his son's soccer team. (B. 37-38). Neither of these facts is determinative, as the Chancellor's Opinion clearly acknowledged that both parties had been involved in extracurricular activities with the children and so Mr. Cuccia's involvement in one particular activity with each child does not make the Chancellor's finding clearly erroneous. Therefore, the finding with respect to this factor should be affirmed.

l. Stability of the Home Environment

The Chancellor concluded that each party had established a stable and suitable environment for the children in their post-separation homes. Mr. Cuccia does not address this issue in his brief and, therefore, any objection to this finding is waived. *O'Hara*, 904 So.2d at

⁶ Ms. Cuccia testified that no sponsor is required for First Communion and that the parties took turns taking their daughter to the required classes. (T. 262).

1111 (holding that “this Court is not required to review any issues which are not properly supported by reasons and authority”) (citing *Hoops v. State*, 681 So. 2d 521, 535 (Miss. 1996)).

Because the Chancellor correctly considered and applied the *Albright* factors,⁷ there can be no manifest error, as “such careful consideration and application . . . precludes reversal on appeal.” *Jerome v. Stroud*, 689 So.2d at 757 (citing *Smith v. Smith*, 614 So. 2d 394, 397 (Miss. 1993)). The Chancellor concluded that nine of the *Albright* factors favored neither party and that, but for the inability of the parties to agree on “the rearing of the children and the accommodation of the other party with respect thereto” he would grant joint custody in this action. Yet, when faced with the parties’ inability to agree on issues necessary for successful joint custody – an inability that was acknowledged by both parties at trial (T. 166-67, 274) – and because three of the factors were deemed to favor Ms. Cuccia, the Chancellor granted her sole legal and physical custody. There is no basis for disturbing the Chancellor’s well-reasoned and documented findings of fact. The mere fact that Mr. Cuccia disagrees with some of the child-rearing decisions made by Ms. Cuccia does not render the Chancellor’s findings reversible. The Chancellor’s ruling on custody should be affirmed in all respects.

3. Mr. Cuccia has waived any challenge to the visitation schedule ordered by the trial court.

Mr. Cuccia identifies the imposition of the “standard Farese schedule” as an issue on appeal. However, except for a single mention on page 12 of the Procedural History section of his brief, Mr. Cuccia has failed to present this argument on appeal. Having failed to advance his argument related to this matter, any objection to the visitation schedule is waived for purposes of this appeal. *O’Hara*, 904 So.2d at 1111 (citing requirements of rules of appellate procedure and

⁷ The Chancellor did not consider the preference of the minor children because neither child had reached the age of 12 years at the time this matter was tried. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-11-65.

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